1948

# West Union Canal Company v. Provo Bench Canal and Irrigation Company, et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Sometime between about 6 o'clock p. m. of May 27th, and 5 o'clock a. m. of May 28th, 1946, during heavy rain-

fall, the pipe line of the West Union Canal Company at "Skinner's Hollow" in Orem, Utah County, Utah, was washed out. The West Union Canal Company, plaintiff and respondent herein, brought action against the Provo Bench Canal and Irrigation Company, and numerous individual defendants, claiming that they negligently caused or permitted excess water to flow into the West Union Canal, thereby causing damages in the sum of \$2,500.00.

All defendants except Provo Bench Canal and Irrigation Company, appellant herein, were eliminated from the cause by non-suit granted in their favor at the close of plaintiff's evidence (JR 65; 235). From a judgment for damages in the sum of \$699.25 entered against Provo Bench Canal and Irrigation Company, it takes this appeal (JR 69).

### THE QUESTIONS PRESENTED

So that the statement of facts can be reviewed conveniently in the light of the legal questions presented for determination herein, such questions will be first set out.

In passing, it may be noted that various errors were committed by the trial court in respect of the reception of evidence. Some relate to the general rules of evidence (399, 400). Others are predicated upon the view of the learned trial judge that the damages sought to be established were legally attributable to the appellant (41-43, 65, 155). The former are overshadowed by basic legal questions of far-reaching importance. A decision as to the latter is dependent upon the law governing the responsibility of irrigation companies, and the elements of proof essential to show actionable negligence and proximate cause, all more directly raised by other assignments. None of the evidentiary questions in and of themselves appears determina-

tive. In order that the fundamental issues may not be obscured, we are limiting our presentation to them, viz:

I. Must an irrigation company, distributing water to laterals maintained and controlled by stockholders of such company, and others, under a system of turns arranged by such stockholders, assure, at its peril that all such laterals and branches thereof to, and beyond, the lowest user, shall have means for the disposal of excess water in the event that any user fails to take his turn, or water beyond the control of the company otherwise gets into, or flows through the laterals and their branches; or, in other words, does there exist such a legal duty of construction as concluded by the trial court?

II. Is water allocated to certain stockholders and diverted from the canal of an irrigation company with other water into laterals under the control of such stockholders the water of such irrigation company not only up to the time it is diverted into such laterals, but also while it flows through the same and until it is turned upon the land of each individual user, so that the irrigation company has the responsibility to supervise and control the diversion of such water as between all stockholders down to the lowest user, to preclude the possibility of damage from unused water assigned among themselves to particular stockholders, or from rain or waste water, or a combination of all; or, in other words, does there exist such a legal duty of management and control as concluded by the trial court?

III. Was there any violation of duty or negligence as pleaded, or at all, on the part of the Provo Bench Canal and Irrigation Company; or, in other words, was there any delict as found by the trial court?

IV. If negligence were assumed for the sake of ar-

gument, is there any competent evidence to establish that this caused or contributed to the damages claimed and awarded in view of the speculation and conjecture involved in plaintiff's theory, the absence of evidence as to the failure of any stockholder to use his water, the heavy rain at the time, the uncertainty as to when the damage occurred, and the uncontradicted affirmative evidence that the respondent company itself on the night of the break was flowing more water in its canal than the pipe-line would carry; or, in other words, did proximate cause or connection exist?

In the argument to follow, these issues will be discussed in the order stated, under corresponding propositions which are believed to be borne out by the facts and the law.

## THE FACTS

Both appellant and respondent are irrigation companies of Orem, Utah, organized to sell and distribute water to stockholders (JR 28; 40). The individual defendants were stockholders of Provo Bench Canal and Irrigation Company (JR 28, 43).

Plaintiff in its amended complaint alleged that between the afternoon of May 28th and the morning of May 29th, 1946 (plaintiff's evidence is conflicting, but it developed in the latter part of its evidence that the occasion referred to was May 27-28), the irrigation water of Provo Bench Canal Irrigation Company was negligently, wilfully and unlawfully permitted, allowed and caused to flow from its ditch onto a public street where it picked up stones, earth and rubbish, and from which the water, with the debris, flowed into plaintiff's canal; that by reason of the stones, earth and rubbish gathered with said water, the



plaintiff's ditch was filled with rubbish, earth and stones; the flow of plaintiff's canal was blocked, causing the water to overflow and breaking plaintiff's canal (JR 29).

It was further alleged by plaintiff that the individual defendants were negligent in failing to use their water turns during the period in which the damage occurred (JR 30). It was further alleged that Provo Bench Canal and Irrigation Company neglected to notify the individual stockholders of the time the water would be put into the ditch for the use of the individual defendants and that it neglected and refused to provide for the care of excess and unused water in the ditch; knowing that the water placed therein was not cared for, and used by, such stockholders and was a menace and potential danger to plaintiff's ditch, and after plaintiff notified said Provo Bench Canal and Irrigation Company of such failure to take care of said water and of the potential damage to plaintiff's ditch (JR 30).

Provo Bench Canal and Irrigation Company denied any negligence on its part, and affirmatively alleged that plaintiff's damage was proximately caused and contributed to by the carelessness of plaintiff in failing to keep the pipe lines and flume in good state of repair and design free from rubbish and in failing to strengthen portions of its ditch to withstand conditions reasonably to have been anticipated and in failing to divert water from said ditch which substantially contributed to said breaking; and negligently turned water into the canal so as to contribute to said damage and negligently failed to take reasonable precaution in view of heavy rainfall (JR 43, 44).

The record discloses that the West Union Canal Company is a corporation having the control of a portion of the waters of Provo River, and acting through a president, a

water master and other officers, directors and agents (JR 28, 36-37). The West Union Canal, owned and operated by that company, diverts water from said Provo River in the vicinity of the Utah Power & Light Company Steam Plant below the mouth of Provo Canyon, running thence for about two miles along the west edge of the river bottom, approaching the east slope of Provo Bench under which it runs southeasterly for about three additional miles to the so-called Davis Corner (68), past which it flows northwesterly for about a half mile to Skinner's Hollow (75), thence continuing to the property of the Geneva Steel Company through which excess water is conveyed to Utah Lake (143).

The West Union Canal is about two feet deep and eight feet wide, holds a maximum of 70 second feet of water at its head, about 75 second feet just below the diversion point of its lateral No. 2 (about a half mile above the Davis Corner) (72). At the Davis Corner its capacity is 50 second feet before it spills from the Canal over the headgate (77). It will carry through the pipeline at Skinner's Hollow a maximum of only 35 second feet (75), there being no spillway at that point to provide for any excess water. The canal ordinarily carries about 30 second feet of water at its head, except in the high water season, a portion of which water is diverted into various laterals. This was the amount of flow at the head the morning before the washout (P. Ex. 1). There is no testimony, however, as to how much water was in the West Union Canal the night of the washout (252-253), except that it was running full and to overflowing at the Davis Corner before any water entered from the road (287, 289). The company had no record of the amount of water in its lateral No. 2 on the night in question (91) and

it was reported the water was turned from lateral No. 2 back into the canal (241, 259, 261).

In its course the canal traverses farm land, waste land, weeds and underbrush (68). A waste ditch to drain excess water from the new State Road empties into it (70, 78, 256) and other drainage (275). It also flows past or through numerous corrals and other places where livestock is fed (264).

The Davis Corner is located at 20th South and Main Street in Orem, Utah, which is some one-half mile west of the State Highway and approximately that distance below the diversion point of the so-called West Union Lateral No. 2. Davis has his home on the northwest corner at that intersection. The West Union Canal crosses Main Street in a westerly direction just north of the Davis home, at which point there is a bridge over the canal. Immediately to the west of the bridge there is a headgate leading south from the canal through which water is diverted across the Davis property next to the house for lower users (77, Def's Ex. 4). The carrying capacity of the canal at this point is about 50 second feet (77). The canal then proceeds in a northwesterly direction to Skinner's Hollow and to the Geneva Steel Company property beyond, as aforesaid.

Formerly, a concrete pipe carried the water from the top of Skinner's Hollow to the bottom; in 1945, however, this was replaced by corrugated pipe supported by trestle work with earth fill and with abutments of concrete at its ends. About sixty days before the occurrence in question, a 24-inch concrete pipe was laid within the corrugated metal pipe (97-98) and the water had been running in this for a period of only about 45 days prior to the washout (98). The work at Skinner's Hollow was done by an offi-

cer of the West Union Canal without the benefit of design, assistance or advice from an engineer except for a statement as to what to use for joints (162-165). The soil in the vicinity of the pipe was very loose and unstable (173).

About 75 feet above the intake in the unimproved portion of the canal was a screen consisting of boards set on edge with openings between for the purpose of screening out debris which might otherwise pass into the intake of the pipe (86). It was not unusual to find debris not only on this screen, but on the splitter board at lateral No. 2 above (82). The capacity of the pipe itself was substantial but the flow of water which could pass through the intake did not exceed 35 second feet (214-215), there being no place for any excess to go but over the side of the intake into the loose sand and gravel forming its base.

It was at this point that the principal damage complained of occurred. Apparently as a result either of an excess flow in the canal or some obstruction in the intake, the water had flowed over the sides of the intake, washing the foundation of the concrete away and causing the pipe to fall, due to the lack of support from sand and gravel underneath (242). There was no sign of washing in the vicinity of the screen (267-268), but it had caved in the immediate vicinity of the intake and apparently washed back south a few feet (89-90).

The Provo Bench Canal and Irrigation Company is a corporation, with usual officers and directors. The Provo Bench Canal diverts water from Provo River at the mouth of Provo Canyon, from which it traverses the side and onto the Bench, where it furnishes water to various laterals in the Orem area.

The stock of the company is divided into 1954 shares (326), entitling the holders to their proportionate part of the waters of the canal. The company adds the shares together and gives each lateral its proportion of the measurement in the weir according to the shares on that lateral (330). Six hundred ninety-one shares are owned by the North Union Irrigation Company, a separate corporation (327). The water is diverted into the head of the North Union Canal, which has three branches, the Loveridge Lateral, The Stratton Lateral and the Knight Lateral (327-328). Below the North Union diversion on the Provo Bench Canal is the Nickle Ditch, dividing into the Davis Lateral, the North Spencer Lateral, the South Spencer Lateral and the Curtis Lateral (329); at about the same point the southeast Ditch diverts from the Canal (330).

These laterals serve the stockholders of the Provo Bench Canal and Irrigation Company and the stockholders of certain other canal companies flowing water through the Provo Bench Canal.

The secretary of the canal company receives orders from the stockholders for change from one lateral to another, if desired, and distributes water into the new laterals for them (330-331); but the canal company has nothing to do with administration of laterals or in designating their officers (333-334).

There is no such thing as the Southeast Ditch Company, except as that refers to a group of farmers using waters from the so-called Southeast Ditch (104). They simply get together for the ticketing of their water and sometimes for mutual ditch cleaning (118). The Southeast Ditch is a lateral leading off from the Provo Bench Canal at the Ford Corner (104) and proceeding southwesterly to



the Kartchner Corner on the state road, where it divides into two principal branches, one leading northwesterly to the Roy Davis farm with 48 users on it (365-366); the other branch from the Kartchner Corner leads in a general westerly direction for the service of 50 users, including Christenson, who is the lowest user on this branch (124; 365). A continuation of the ditch across the Christenson land is used as a head ditch by him to water on either side (193). This is his own ditch (124) and it terminates at his fence line on the east side of Main Street about 500 feet north of the West Union Canal bridge across Main Street heretofore referred to, near the so-called Davis Corner, at which point it is very small (123). The Southeast Ditch, however, does not run to the road, but ends at the Christenson farm, which is the last place served by that particular branch of the ditch (112). He is the lowest user, and one branch of the ditch simply runs to his premises (124). The ditch is about  $2\frac{1}{2}$  miles from its head to the end of the north branch (372).

Besides the two main branches mentioned, various other laterals take off on either side of the Southeast Ditch to serve water users in the general vicinity; some ditches serve only one water user, and others a large number. There are a total of about 70 individual water users on the Southeast Ditch (117). This ditch has been substantially in the same position and has been operated in substantially the same way for at least 40 years (124; 121).

An arrangement has been made by stockholders to care for any unused or surplus water in the ditch. A steel gate has been placed near the head, so that people who do not want to use their turns can notify Roy Olsen, who shuts the water off. All stockholders know this (112-113, 368,

374). The canal company has no control over this gate (368). Surplus water also can be turned down the North branch of the ditch, from which it is impossible for water to get into the West Union Canal (375).

Stockholders on each of the main laterals leading from the Provo Bench Canal, for the purpose of cleaning the canal and providing for the distribution of water between them, appoint a ditch secretary, and some have a board or committee for the purpose of determining the period of water turn per share which is to be allowed in the ditch (109).

The Provo Bench Canal and Irrigation Company has nothing to do with this (110). The secretary of the ditch is notified by the secretary of the Provo Bench Canal and Irrigation Company each year how many share of water are being distributed to the ditch in accordance with the request of the stockholders (119, 342). The ditch then allocates the turns among the stockholders on the ditch in accordance with their stock holdings (110). Except for certifying the number of shares on the ditch, including the number of shares of Provo Reservoir Corporation stock and Tanner stock flowed through the canal in an arrangement with the Provo Bench Canal and Irrigation Company (126-127), the canal company never has assumed anything to do with the distribution of the water of the respective laterals or ditches (110, 128; 352-353), simply diverting into the head of the respective laterals the amount of water called for by the total number of shares represented on the lateral (123). The individual stockholders have the right to use the flow of water through the ditch (120). The canal company delivers water at the head of the Southeast Ditch to the 70 users on the ditch entitled thereto

(123). The Provo Reservoir Company rents water to various people using such water through the Southeast Ditch also. They have both Provo Bench and Provo Reservoir water in the ditch (126), and also Tanner water (128).

At some recent, but undisclosed, time, the Provo Bench Canal and Irrigation Company arranged with the government for cementing on some of the laterals, and amended its articles to provide for the levying of assessments for this purpose (336-338); but there is no other evidence that the corporation has assumed any control of the distribution of water, except to divert such water into the heads of the laterals in accordance with the amount of water represented by owners on the laterals desiring to take their water through such laterals (352-353, 379). There is no evidence that any cementing was done on any lateral other than at its head, and the evidence does not disclose that any cementing at all was done on any part of the Southeast Ditch.

The evidence further discloses that all of the water turned into each lateral, during every period of the irrigation season, has been allocated by the stockholders on the lateral into turns, there being no period when someone has not been assigned the use of the water (369).

About 30 days prior to the damage, at a meeting between officers of the West Union Canal and Provo Bench Canal, the danger of excess water entering the West Union Canal was discussed, and the Provo Bench officers indicated they would call the attention of its stockholders to the matter (56, 59, 60, 61). Shortly thereafter, the Provo Bench Canal notified all of the representatives of the various laterals that the company could assume no responsibility, but that the individual stockholders and laterals



would have to so manage their water as to prevent damage (Pl. Ex. H).

Taking in sequence a composite of the events as disclosed by the evidence, on the morning of May 27th, 1946, presumably early in the morning, as was his custom (252-253), Frank Wentz, river commissioner of Provo River, measured the water entering the Provo Bench Canal and found it to be 139 second feet. He also measured the water entering the West Union Canal and found it to be 30 second feet (Pl. Ex. I; 130, 131).

At about eight o'clock of that morning, Mr. Anderson, water master for Provo Bench Canal and Irrigation Company, and Mr. Keech, its president, being concerned about the heavy rainfall, went to the mouth of Provo Canyon, turned out of the Provo Bench Canal approximately two-thirds of its flow, so that the next measurement of the canal was 64 second feet (359-360; 382-383).

It continued raining most, if not all, of that day and night and until the early morning of the 28th. During that period, a total of .87 inch of rain fell, this being the heaviest rain of the year, except for the early Spring before the waters were in the canals, and except for August, when the water was low. (Provo River Commissioner Report 1946, p. 37, Pl. Ex. I; 131; 97).

During the day of the 27th the water flowing in the West Union Canal was observed to be more than the normal flow for that time of the year (343, 349).

At about 5:30 the evening of the 27th, the water master of the West Union Canal was in Skinner's Hollow and observed some debris on the screen (243), but did not think it enough to justify removing. About that same time, one of the officers of West Union Canal Company finished irri-

gating in the vicinity of Skinner's Hollow and turned his irrigation stream back into the canal (139).

At about 6 or 6:30 p. m. of May 27th, one Moroni Jensen saw a small stream coming into the road from the Christenson ditch, but it had not reached the canal (179). Although he was an officer of the West Union Canal, he made no report and did nothing (191).

Sometime during the night of May 27-May 28th, it appears that stockholders of the West Union Canal Company, not desiring the water assigned, turned the water flowing in lateral No. 2 back into the canal (259-261), and that a substantial amount of rain or waste water drained into that canal from the side of the new state highway a half a mile above the Davis Corner (322-325).

About 8 o'clock that night, Roy Davis left his home to go to the picture show (286); no water was coming down the road except a trickle of rain water, and none was entering the canal from the road (304-305).

At about 11 o'clock that evening, a farmer, Ervil L. Davis, was driving along Main Street in the vicinity of canal bridge and observed a small amount of water running down the road. He did not know where it came from (6). There was just a small stream and rut about 40 feet above the West Union Canal (7-9). He didn't see where the water was going (10). He could not remember whether it was raining at the time (9-10).

About midnight, Roy Davis returned from the picture show and noted that the West Union Canal was running completely full and overflowing the weir through his place (287-288; 295-296). He also noted that there was a small stream of water running down the side of the road and across the bridge, but that none was entering the canal

(288). He went to bed and about 2 o'clock in the morning he heard the sound of rocks rolling, and got up and observed that the water coming down the road, about sufficient to run through a 4-inch pipe, was running across the bridge and washing below the bridge (289); none at that time was entering the canal, but the canal was still running full, with 3 inches of water flowing out of the canal over the six-inch board down the ditch through his place. The capacity of the canal at this point was about 50 second feet before it flowed over the headgate (77).

At about 5 o'clock in the morning of the 28th, the president of the West Union Canal was notified that the road at the Davis Corner was washed (37). He called the water master, who sometime after went to Skinner's Hollow and found the break there (243). The president spent the hour following the report of the road wash in turning out the water from the West Union Canal (38), although very little, if any, water was then entering from the road (39). The headgate at lateral No. 2 was opened wide so as to take the flow of water out of the canal, and other laterals were opened and the water turned out of the head of the canal about 6:30 a. m. (51). Thereafter about 7 o'clock in the morning (39) the president of the company found at Skinner's Hollow that the structure holding the intake pipe had broken off, and the washing in the soft sand and gravel underlying it had extended back about four feet above the intake (242; 192; see also Pl. Ex. D). A large amount of sand and gravel had been washed off the hillside into the canal in the bottom of Skinner's Hollow (39-40). When the water master discovered the break, he estimated it was flowing about 16 or 17 second feet (245), but he admitted that the flow was to the top of the cement

structure (273). The record does not disclose whether the water had been turned out of the canal by that time or not.

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