1948

West Union Canal Company v. Provo Bench Canal and Irrigation Company, et al : Brief of Plaintiff and Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

ARGUMENT

The arguments in appellant's brief are grouped in four divisions, and respondent's brief will generally follow this division.

I.

THE SOUTHEAST DITCH WAS A LATERAL OWNED BY AND UNDER THE CONTROL OF APPELLANT.

Appellant objects to the finding that the Southeast Ditch was a ditch of respondent's. The evidence shows that the appellant owned this lateral and had incorporated it into the company. (336). The only person who had authority to change water stock from one lateral to another was the secretary of respondent. (342). The amount of water delivered to each lateral was determined by the officers of respondent. (330-332). The list of stockholders whose water was turned into the lateral was then submitted to the secretary of the lateral and his only authority was to divide the time in accordance with the list. (118-119). The superintendent of appellant testified: "Well, I try and size up how much rainfall there is, and try to determine, **I mean in my own mind**, how much water the people on Provo Bench need, and **I** regulate the flow of the canal accordingly." (359). He did not advise anyone when he turned the water out of the canal. (361). This evidence is practically uncontradicted, and would seem sufficient evidence upon which to base the finding. There is no evidence of anyone else being the owner of this lateral.

Appellant argues that it has no duty to see that a way is provided to care for unused water. The recent case of *Briant vs. Fremont Irrigation Co.*, 86 Pac. 2d 588, _____ Utah _____, at page 590 states:

"(2, 3) Utah is one of the arid states and the conservation of water is of the utmost importance to the public welfare. To waste water is to injure that wel-

fare, and it is therefore the duty of the user of water to return the surplus or waste water into the stream from which it was taken so that further use can be made by others. See Kinney on Irrigation and Water Rights, 2d Ed., Sec. 812, pages 1614-1616. Furthermore, the natural channel serves as the natural drainage for the waters in the area. Appellant's allegation therefore that respondent returned and allowed others to return waste water to its natural channel, could not, in the absence of an allegation of negligence in the manner of so returning the water, entitle him to any redress against respondent for doing that which it should do."

See also Salt River Valley Water Users' Assn. vs. Stewart, 34 Pac. 2d (Ariz.) 400; Billings Realty Co. vs. Big Ditch Co., 115 Pac. (Mont.) 828.

A general demurrer was interposed to the amended complaint. In the complaint it is alleged that the appellant failed to provide for excess and unused water, knowing that it was not cared for and a potential danger, and also that respondent failed to notify users of water of their turns and that these acts of negligence were causes of the damages alleged. We submit that these are acts of negligence and certainly good against a general demurrer.

All users on the night of the washout had not been notified that it was their turn to water. (105). The Southeast Ditch is continued to the road above the bridge where the water washed into respondent's canal. (124). During that night the periods for irrigation turns, as shown by plaintiff's Exhibit "G," varied from seven minutes to about three hours, with a total of 13 irrigators in less than 12 hours and two of those had over half the time. The probability of an irrigator with seven minutes turn getting up

in the middle of the night in a rain to take a turn of that length is small. The appellant has furnished the water to these stockholders knowing these things, and now wants to put the loss on respondent, which could do nothing about it. It is submitted that, as the cases say, the appellant did have an obligation to see that a way was provided for waste and unused water to get back to the natural channel or be safely taken care of in some other manner. Appellant is surely not contending that the respondent must maintain such a canal that it will take care of all the water the appellant can turn into the road above its canal.

It may be that the system was adequate when the users were large users with crops that required water each irrigation turn, but with turns for part shares, with small plots and short turns, it is not now adequate to control the water. We submit that this is the problem of appellant, and cannot be pushed on respondent.

II.

APPELLANT OWES A DUTY TO CARE FOR WASTE OR UNUSED WATER.

Appellant objects to the finding of fact No. 4, in which it was found that the Southeast Ditch Company is an association of stockholders for the convenience of the Provo Bench Canal & Irrigation Company. The only evidence on this was that the only purpose of the organization of the stockholders was to divide the time among the stockholders in accordance with the list of shares of stock submitted to them by the secretary of respondent. (118-119). From this it would seem to be only an organization to save the

secretary of respondent the job of figuring out the time for each turn. It had no part in the control of the lateral.

There is no dispute in the evidence that all the stockholders had not received the notice of their turns. The list, plaintiff's Exhibit "G", was made up from the slips not delivered the day after the washout. (105). The water had been turned into the canal and laterals of appellant, and some water had probably been in the canal and laterals all winter. To turn down a full supply without seeing to it that the users were notified that the time for regular turns had begun is not the act of one who is careful. We believe that appellant was under duty to see that such notice was given. They had been notified that there was danger at the exact point where the damage occurred. (59-60). To say that the company can put water in its own ditches without notifying the users that their turns have started, and without a place for the unused or excess water to go, does and should constitute negligence.

Appellant argues that it would be impossible for it to control the water to the end of the laterals. Had it been distributed over the land of the stockholders near the end of the ditch there would have been no damage. If the company had someone who would care for the water and see that it did not go into this particular ditch unless it could be used, there would have been no damage. As between appellant and respondent, there would seem to be no question of whose liability it should be.

III.

NEGLIGENCE OF APPELLANT PLEADED AND PROVED.

Appellant argues that there is no allegation of negligence or proof of negligence. As has been stated, the complaint did allege the negligence of appellant in failing to care for the waste or unused water in the ditch. It was also alleged that appellant had failed to notify the stockholders of the times of their turns. The evidence heretofore referred to shows such to be the case. A general demurrer was interposed to the amended complaint, and in its construction respondent is entitled to all that it fairly alleges. If appellant wanted a more detailed statement of in what way it had failed to provide for care of waste water, it should have been demanded by special demurrer.

It is not contended that the appellant is an insurer, but with notice of damage being done, and more probable, certainly an irrigation company cannot say it has no duty to see that unused or waste water in its ditch is so disposed that it does not injure other parties.

We submit that under the authorities cited above it is the duty of the appellant to see that such water is cared for.

Appellant argues that there is no evidence that the stockholders did not use their water during the night in question. There can be no question but that water in quantity flowed from the end of the ditch on the road and into the canal of respondent. From the very situation of the irrigation ditch, watering land on both sides (125) the ditch could not accumulate rain water.

There was enough water in the ditch and flowing out at the end of it to wash a road for a distance of 20 to 25 rods, making it impassable. (21). It washed enough into the respondent's canal to block the canal where it went in, and at a hundred feet from that point was 6 inches deep. (180). Probably the amount of the water, in and of itself, would not have done the damage, but with the debris that was picked up along the way, the extra water did cause the damage complained of by the respondent.

On May 5th the respondent's canal had carried 41.2 second feet at the head and 25 second feet at the pipe. (247-248). On the night in question there was 30 second feet at the head and 18 second feet at the pipe. (241). The canal had been cleaned shortly before. (46). The screen at the intake to the pipe had been checked the night before and found practically clean. The next morning it was filled right up. (243). The intake to the pipe would take care of 35 second feet of water. (214). How can appellant say there is no evidence that this extra water and debris was not responsible? It is much more reasonable, under such facts, to assume that the debris and extra water were the responsible agents.

The pipe or flume washed out had been placed in an iron half pipe that had been there for several years, and the dirt under it had been pushed in by a bulldozer and tamped. (176).

Plaintiff's Exhibit "F" is a picture of the screen to catch the debris about 75 feet above the intake to this pipe. This picture was taken the day after the washout. (40). A glance at it will show that the water had raised the debris high enough to flow around the screen, and undoubtedly this is what had happened and caused the break and

washout. With the amount of water in the West Union Canal, less than had successfully been used previously, such a conclusion—that the debris caused the stoppage of the pipe—seems well justified.

There was no substantial amount of flood water on that night. Mr. Dawson, the president of the respondent company, testified that the wash from the State Road did not lead into the canal at that time (69) and that the wash from the State Road later in the year was caused by irrigation water. (70). Mr. Schemensky, who had resided in that neighborhood for 30 years, testified that he had never seen surplus rain water flowing down the road above the bridge where the washin occurred. (13). Mr. Gappmayer testified that there was no evidence of any washing above where the ditch came to the road, and that the ground would take a lot of water. (207).

The trial court was able to see the witnesses when they testified, and to judge of their credibility, and his findings have much evidence to support them.

IV.

NEGLIGENCE OF APPELLANT CAUSE OF DAMAGE TO RESPONDENT.

Appellant contends that there is no evidence to connect it with the damages to the canal of respondent. It has been set forth previously that the Southeast Ditch was a ditch of appellant's, who did what supervising was done on it; that the water came out of this ditch and washed the rocks, dirt and debris from the road into respondent's canal; that this canal had previously handled more water than was in the canal on the night in question; that the

screen just above the intake to the pipe was clear the night before the washout and was covered over the next morning. The plaintiff's Exhibit "F" shows that the sticks and straw had been washed around this screen. This picture was taken the day after the washout. No one saw the water go over the screen and the debris sticking at the mouth of the pipe, but there is plenty of evidence on which to base such a conclusion.

Appellant cites the evidence of Mr. Davis. He never went above the bridge and never said he looked to see if the canal had been washed full of rocks. He heard the rocks rolling down during the night and no one saw them below the bridge the next day. Mr. Ervil Davis stopped his car at about 11 o'clock the night before, because the water was washing across the road about 40 feet above the bridge. (8).

Appellant claims the West Union Canal had broken its banks at other times when it was raining. The time referred to was caused by water from Roy Gappmayer's farm, which put a bar of gravel in the ditch. (175).

Mr. Frank Wentz testified that the water from the river at the intake to the canal could not change much. (387). The official records show 30 second feet at the intake. (Plaintiff's Exhibit "I", page 77). Appellant's Southeast Ditch circled the hill above where the respondent's canal is located, and the Provo Bench Canal & Irrigation Company did not report any other wash into respondent's canal. (103-104).

This is a case where the trial judge determines the fact, and if there is evidence to sustain his judgment, this Court will not reverse it. We submit that there is not only sufficient evidence to sustain the judgment, but that the

clear preponderance of the evidence sustains it. There is no other reasonable conclusion that can be reached on the evidence submitted.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, it is respectfully submitted that the appellant has not sustained the burden of showing that no substantial evidence was introduced upon which the findings could be based. In fact, it was by picking out only unusually favorable pieces of evidence that the matter could be presented favorably to its contention.

We believe that an irrigation company has some duty other than merely bringing the water for irrigation out of a river and then turning it loose without notice, and without a sufficient ditch to care for it. We believe that this is especially true where they have been notified that damages have resulted before and indications are that further damage would be caused by them.

The judgment should be affirmed, with costs to respondent.